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11 In April 1994, adoptive parents Eugene and Peggy Jackson filed an action based in
negligence with the District Court for the Thirteenth Judicial District in Yell owstone County
agai nst the State of Montana, the Departnment of Family Services, and John and Jane Does
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I-1V (the State). The Jacksons prinmarily alleged the State negligently msrepresented, and
failed to disclose to them certain material facts regarding the psychol ogi cal and nedi ca
background of their adoptive son's birth nother and putative father

12 On August 7, 1995, the State filed an initial notion for summary judgnent with
respect to all counts contained in the Jacksons' conplaint. The Jacksons anended their
conpl aint in Novenber 1995, and the State filed a supplenental notion for sunmmary

judgnent in April 1996. On Novenber 6, 1996, the District Court issued an order granting
the State's original and supplenental notions for summary judgnment. It is fromthis order
that the Jacksons presently appeal. For the reasons discussed bel ow, we reverse.

13 W& find the follow ng i ssues dispositive on appeal

14 1. Did the District Court err in concluding the State had neither a comon | aw

nor a statutory duty to fully and accurately disclose to the Jacksons infornation in its
possessi on regardi ng the psychol ogi cal and nedi cal background of their adoptive son's birth
not her and putative father?

15 2. Did the District Court err ininplicitly concluding the State sufficiently
establ i shed the absence of any genuine issue of material fact regarding a causal connection
between the State's allegedly negligent conduct and the Jacksons' injuries?

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

16 Lawr ence John Allen Russell (later renaned Aaron Jon Jackson by his adoptive

parents and hereinafter referred to as Aaron) was born on Novenber 8, 1983, to Deborah
Annette Russell, his biological nmother. Aaron's two putative fathers are Brian Scott and
Robert T. Stevens. Russell spent nmuch of her pregnancy incarcerated at the Wnen's
Correctional Center at Warm Springs, Mntana, during which period she underwent a
psychol ogi cal evaluation by clinical psychologist, Dr. B. A Peters. Dr. Peters concluded
that Russell had a Full Scale |.Q of 73, and wote that certain test scores "strongly suggest
(1"

the presence of an "organic or psychiatric inpairnent." Dr. Peters additionally described
Russel | 's thinking as "disorgani zed, unconventional, diffused, [and] possibly at tines

del usional " and characterized her as an "enotionally inmmuature and i nappropriate” young
woman who "i s making a margi nal psychol ogical adjustment.” Utimtely, Dr. Peters

di agnosed Russell with borderline intellectual functioning and inadequate personality.

17 In January 1984, Russell fed her infant son soda pop, neat, and vegetabl es, which

caused himto aspirate and led to his hospitalization. As a result of this incident, the State
began providing child protective services to Russell and Aaron. |In February 1984, soci al

wor ker Marylis Filipovich prepared a social study in which she noted Russell's "IQis

approxi mtely 70, and [she] functions as though she is retarded.” |n conclusion, Filipovich
remarked that "[b]esides [Russell's] |ow functioning, she seens to be quite disturbed and will
need professional counseling."

18 In the followi ng nmonths, the State continued to provide child protective services to

Aaron, Russell, and Aaron's two putative fathers, Brian Scott and Robert Stevens. The State,

in fact, entered into a service treatnment agreenent with Russell and Scott, and into a second
such agreenent with Russell and Stevens. Moreover, the State arranged for Russell to

undergo a psychol ogi cal eval uation by clinical psychol ogi st Kenneth Collier, on June 7,

1984. In his report, Dr. Collier noted that "[p]eople who produce simlar clinical profiles are
seen as having a | ong-standing and chronic enotional disturbance, nost likely a personality
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di sorder, though a paranoid disorder should be considered." Dr. Collier described Russel
as "clinically intellectually dull" and his ultimte di agnosis was one of "Paranoid Personality
Di sorder with mild nental retardation."

19 In Decenber 1983, Aaron's putative father, Stevens, was treated on an inpatient basis
by Dr. R V. Edwards of the Veterans Adm nistration Medical Center in Sheridan, Wom ng.
In his witten report, Dr. Edwards noted that Stevens conpl ained of "feelings of unreality
as though things were floating" and di agnosed himwith a "schi zophreni ¢ di sorder, paranoid
type." The State acquired a copy of Dr. Edwards' evaluation prior to Aaron's adoption in
1986.

110 On August 1, 1984, social worker Dave Wallace submitted a report to the court on

behal f of the State which chronicled Russell's difficulties and recommended that the State
recei ve permanent custody of Aaron and that he be nmade avail able for adoption. Anpbng the
itens referenced in the report, were Dr. Peters' and Dr. Collier's psychol ogi cal eval uations
as well as Filipovich's social study. |In addition, copies of Dr. Peters' and Dr. Collier's
reports

were attached to the report.

111 On Decenber 31, 1984, the District Court issued an order termi nating the parental

rights of Russell, Scott, and Stevens, and awarded pernmanent |egal custody of Aaron to the
State with the right to consent to his adoption. Roughly one nonth later, resource worker
Betty Petek contacted the Jacksons and informed themthat Aaron was avail able for adoption

12 The Jacksons had applied with the State to beconme adoptive parents just one week

after Aaron's birth, in Novermber 1983. To becone adoptive parents, the Jacksons conpl et ed

a witten application and participated in personal interviews with Petek. During the course
of this application process, the Jacksons advi sed Petek that they could not provide care for
a child that had, or mght be at risk for, developing a nental disorder. On March 10, 1984,
Pet ek conpl eted the Jacksons' adoptive hone study and recomended that they "be

approved for the adoption of one Caucasian child, either sex, infancy through two years of
age," noting that they would consider adopting a child with "a m nor correctabl e handi cap."
In accordance with Petek's reconmendation, the Jacksons were approved as adoptive parents

on May 1, 1984.

13 Thus, in January 1985, shortly after Aaron becane avail abl e for adoption, Petek
contacted the Jacksons and informed them of Aaron's availability. That evening, the
Jacksons discussed the possibility of adopting fifteen-nonth-old Aaron and agreed between
the two of themthat "if the famly history was acceptable . . . and if the child appeared
normal | ooking physically, that [they] would probably take him" On January 28, 1985, the
Jacksons met with Petek and Wall ace to discuss Aaron's fam |y background, and the
possibility of initiating visits with Aaron

14 During this visit, the Jacksons specifically asked Wall ace and Pet ek whet her there was
any history of nmental illness in Aaron's fanmily. Although they were each aware of the

reports conpleted by Dr. Peters, Dr. Collier, and Dr. Edwards, as well as Filipovich's social
study, neither Wallace nor Petek disclosed the content of these evaluations to the Jacksons

in response to their inquiry. |In Wallace's actual possession at the tinme of this neeting were
Filipovich's social study, a January 9, 1985, social history update, and his August 1, 1984,
report to the court to which copies of Dr. Peters' and Dr. Collier's evaluations had been
attached. Wallace generally referred to the docunents in his possession to answer the
Jacksons' questions during the visit, but did not provide themw th copies and did not

di scl ose the various psychol ogi cal eval uati ons.
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115 Instead, Peggy Jackson's deposition testinony indicates that Wallace and Petek
provi ded the Jacksons with the foll ow ng background i nformation during this January 28,
1985, neeting:

They told us that Aaron was renoved from his parents, that they determ ned

the nother not capable of caring for him that when he was very little, that she

had attenpted to feed himsome sort of solid food and pop and he aspirated

and was hospitalized.

We tal ked about famly. They nmentioned that she came froma famly, how
they ternmed it was, several generation welfare fanmly, it was | ow econonic

status. They felt the fanmly was socially inept. They nmentioned, well, when
we asked what the nother was like, they told us that physically she was
heal t hy.

There may have been a possibility of sonme drug usage, but they felt that was
m ni mal, because they told us she had been incarcerated for nost of her
pregnancy on a crimnal charge

We asked why she was unable to take care of Aaron, and we were told that she
noved around a |lot and that she didn't neet his needs for feeding himor caring
for himphysically and that she didn't appear to even have the interest to stick
it out and stay with himand learn those skills.

16 1In the weeks following their nmeeting with Wall ace and Petek, the Jacksons visited
with Aaron on a nunber of occasions, and entered into an adoptive placenment agreenent
with the State on March 5, 1985. On January 2, 1986, the District Court issued an order
finalizing Aaron's adoption

17 Al though the State's records included Dr. Peters' and Dr. Collier's psychol ogi ca

eval uations of Russell, Filipovich's social study, and Dr. Edwards' report concerning Aaron's
putative father, Stevens, the State never disclosed the content of these evaluations to the
Jacksons prior to the finalization of Aaron's adoption in January 1986.

118 Aaron began to exhibit behavioral problens, and on Decenber 16, 1987, the Jacksons

took Aaron to the Child Study Center at the Children's dinic in Billings, Mntana, where

Dr. Paul R Crellin perforned a pediatric and pediatric neurol ogical evaluation. Aaron's
behavi or had becone such that he "could not seemto keep attention, was disruptive,

frustrated, [and] was always going fast and 'furious,' and this was beconing nore and nore

of a problent for those around him Dr. Crellin concluded that "Aaron had significant

attention deficit disorder with hyperactivity" and noted that it was "inpossible to tell whether
or not this is a genetic trait that he inherited fromhis nother or father, or whether it has to
do with the chemical or substance abuse that the nother had during her pregnancy."

19 The record in this case docunents Aaron's continuing history of psychol ogi cal and

enoti onal problens. On February 7, 1989, for exanple, clinical psychologist Dr. Ned N

Tranel eval uated Aaron and concluded that he "displays a host of features of attention deficit
di sorder with and wi thout hyperactivity." dinical psychologist Dr. WIIiam Dee Wol ston
first saw Aaron in Cctober 1991, and continues to treat him |In a Decenber 1994 report, Dr.
Wool st on expl ai ned that he had di agnosed Aaron with pervasive devel opnental disorder,

| earning disorder, and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. In Novenber 1991, Aaron was
hospitalized at the Deaconess Psychiatric Center Youth Treatnent Unit where he began a
course of psychopharmaceutical treatnent. On the date of Aaron's discharge, Dr. J. Earle

di agnosed Aaron with psychotic disorder, history of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder
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and pervasi ve devel opnental di sorder

20 Aaron was readnmitted into the deaconess Medical Center on two separate occasions
in Decenber 1992, and has since seen Dr. Wol ston for ongoi ng psychot herapy. Aaron has
addi tionally been under the continuous care of Dr. John Tal bot Bl odgett, a child and
adol escent psychiatri st.

21 On April 6, 1994, the Jacksons filed a negligence action in District Court against the
naned defendants in this case. |In their original conplaint, the Jacksons asserted clains
agai nst the State for breach of contract, negligent nisrepresentation, negligent disclosure
negli gent supervision. On August 7, 1995, the State filed a notion for sumary judgnent
with respect to each count |eveled against it in the Jacksons' conplaint. The Jacksons
subsequent |y abandoned their claimfor breach of contract, and on Septenber 22, 1995, the
parties attended a final pretrial conference. As a result of the pretrial conference, the
District

Court vacated the trial date and issued a new schedul i ng order

22 The Jacksons obtai ned permission fromthe District Court to amend their conplaint,
and on Novenber 6, 1995, filed an anended conplaint which onmitted their original breach
of contract claimand added an additional cause of action for negligence based upon the
doctrine of infornmed consent. The anmended conplaint additionally contained a revised
caption pursuant to which the Jacksons sought to bring suit, not only in their individua
capacities, but also "as parents and next friends of Aaron Jon Jackson."

23 In response to the anended conplaint, the State renewed its original notion for

sunmary judgnent and filed a supplenental notion for summary judgnent on April 19,

1996. On Novenber 6, 1996, the District Court issued an order granting the State's origina

and suppl enental notions for summary judgnent. It is fromthis order that the Jacksons

presently appeal. For the reasons stated below, we reverse the order of the District Court
STANDARD OF REVI EW

24 This Court's standard of review in appeals fromsummary judgnent rulings is de novo.
Treichel v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. (1997), 280 Mont. 443, 446, 930 P.2d 661, 663.
(citing Motarie v. Northern Montana Joint Refuse Disposal Dist. (1995), 274 Mont. 239,
242, 907 P.2d 154, 156; Mead v. MS.B., Inc. (1994), 264 Mnt. 465, 470, 872 P.2d 782,
785). This Court reviews a summary judgnent order entered pursuant to Rule 56

MR Cv.P., based on the sane criteria applied by the district court. Treichel, 280 Mnt.
446, 930 P.2d at 663 (citing Bruner v. Yellowstone County (1995), 272 Mont. 261, 264, 900
P. 2d 901, 903).

25 In proving that summary judgnent is appropriate:
The novant nust denonstrate that no genuine issues of material fact exist.
Once this has been acconplished, the burden then shifts to the non-noving
party to prove by nore than nere denial and specul ation that a genui ne issue
does exist. Having deterni ned that genuine issues of material fact do not
exi st, the court mnmust then determ ne whether the noving party is entitled to
judgment as a matter of law. [This Court] reviews the | egal determ nations
made by the district court as to whether the court erred.

Bruner, 272 Mont. at 264-65, 900 P.2d at 903.

126 Moreover, the "noving party has the burden of showi ng a conpl ete absence of any
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genuine issue as to all facts considered material in light of the substantive principles that
entitle the noving party to judgnent as a matter of law and all reasonable inferences are to

be drawn in favor of the party opposing summary judgnment." Kolar v. Bergo (1996), 280
Mont. 262, 266, 929 P.2d 867, 869.
DI SCUSSI ON

27 The crux of the Jacksons' "wongful adoption" suit is their allegation that the State
negligently m srepresented, and failed to disclose to them certain material facts regarding
t he psychol ogi cal background of their adoptive son's birth nother and putative father. To
det erm ne whet her Montana | aw recogni zes a cause of action for "wongful adoption,"” such

as the one initiated in the present case, we nust sinply determ ne "whether |ong-standing
comon | aw causes of action should be applied to the adoption context." G bbs v. Ernst

(Pa. 1994), 647 A 2d 882, 886. |Indeed, a nunmber of courts have recognized "that the
guestion of whether to recognize causes of action for 'wongful adoption' sinply requires the
strai ghtforward applicati on and extension of well-recognized conmon-| aw actions, such as
negligence and fraud, to the adoption context and not the creation of newtorts." Mllette
v. Children's Friend and Service (R 1. 1995), 661 A .2d 67, 69 (citing Roe v. Catholic
Charities of the Diocese of Springfield (1992), 588 N. E.2d 354, 357, appeal denied, 602

N. E. 2d 475 (1992)); see also G bbs, 647 A 2d at 886.

128 Here, the Jacksons have brought a negligence-based action against the State,
specifically alleging clains for negligent msrepresentation, negligent nondiscl osure,
negli gence based on a lack of informed consent, and negligent supervision. The present
appeal thus requires us to determ ne whether these "long-standi ng conmon | aw causes of
action should be applied to the adoption context" and whether they constitute viable clains
in the present case. G bbs, 647 A 2d at 886

| SSUE 1

29 Did the District Court err in concluding the State had neither a comon | aw nor a
statutory duty to fully and accurately disclose to the Jacksons information in its possession
regardi ng the psychol ogi cal and nedi cal background of their adoptive son's birth nother and
putative father?

130 As noted, the Jacksons have asserted four negligence-based clains against the State,
including clainms for negligent msrepresentation, negligent nondisclosure, negligence based

on lack of informed consent, and negligent supervision. It is well-established that a plaintiff
in a negligence action nust prove the existence of a duty, breach of duty, causation, and
damages. See e.g., Kitchen Krafters v. Eastside Bank of Mntana (1990), 242 Mont. 155,

161, 789 P.2d 567, 571, overruled in part on other grounds by Busta v. Col unbus Hosp

Corp. (1996), 276 Mont. 342, 370, 916 P.2d 122, 139. Thus, the presence of a legal duty

is an essential elenment of each of the Jacksons' negligence-based clains at i ssue on appeal

131 W have recogni zed that "the existence of a legal duty is a question of law to be
determ ned by the district court.” Yager v. Deane (1993), 258 Mnt. 453, 456, 853 P.2d
1214, 1216. We review such a conclusion of law by the district court to determ ne whether
the court's interpretation of the lawis correct. Carbon County v. Union Reserve Coal Co.
(1995), 271 Mont. 459, 469, 898 P.2d 680, 687.

132 On appeal, the Jacksons urge the District Court erred in concluding the State owed

them no duty of care upon which they may now prenise their clainms for negligence and
negl i gent mnisrepresentation. The Jacksons first argue the court erred in concluding the State
had no common |law duty to fully and accurately disclose certain background information
regardi ng the psychol ogi cal health of Aaron's birth parents. The Jacksons next contend the
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court simlarly erred in concluding the State had no statutory duty to disclose the background
i nformati on which the Jacksons allege was withheld in this case.

133 In contrast, the State argues it had neither a common | aw nor a statutory duty to
disclose in the present case. Mre specifically, the State argues it had no conmon | aw duty
because it made no nisleading statements to the Jacksons regarding Aaron's famlia
background. The State next contends the inposition of a either a commbn |aw or statutory
duty to disclose the background information allegedly withheld in the present case woul d
conflict with the State's statutory duty to maintain confidentiality of the birth parents’
medi ca

records.

134 Thus, with respect to our discussion in the present case, we nust first determne

whet her the | ower court erred in concluding the State owed no common |aw or statutory duty
to the Jacksons to either disclose or avoid negligently msrepresenting certain information
in its possession regarding the psychol ogi cal background of their adoptive son's birth nother
and putative father.

A Common | aw duty: negligent m srepresentation

135 We turn initially to the question of whether th

e State had a comopn | aw duty

sufficient to support the Jacksons' negligence-based clains in the present case. O centra

i nportance to the Jacksons' suit is their claimfor negligent msrepresentation, in which they
allege the State nmisrepresented certain material facts regarding Aaron's fam |y background.

36 This Court has long recognized the common |aw tort of negligent m srepresentation
See, e.g., Kitchen Krafters, 242 Mont. at 165, 789 P.2d at 573. |In Kitchen Krafters, we set
out the followi ng elements of a claimfor negligent msrepresentation
a) the defendant made a representation as to a past or existing nmateria
fact;

b) the representation nust have been untrue;

c) regardless of its actual belief, the defendant nust have made the
representati on without any reasonable ground for believing it to be true;

d) the representation nust have been nade with the intent to induce the
plaintiff torely onit;

e) the plaintiff nmust have been unaware of the falsity of the
representation; it must have acted in reliance upon the truth of the
representation and it must have been justified in relying upon the
representation;

f) the plaintiff, as a result of its reliance, nust sustain danage.

Kitchen Krafters, 242 Mont. at 165, 789 P.2d at 573.

137 To succeed with a claimfor negligent nisrepresentation, a party need not denobnstrate
an intent on the part of a defendant to nmisrepresent, but nust nerely show "a failure to use
reasonabl e care or conpetence in obtaining or conmunicating . . . information." Barrett v.
Hol | and & Hart (1992), 256 Mont. 101, 107, 845 P.2d 714, 717. See also Batten v. Watts
Cycle and Marine, Inc. (1989), 240 Mont. 113, 117, 783 P.2d 378, 381, cert. denied, 494

U S. 1087 (1990). For liability to arise, "it [is] not necessary that the negligent
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m srepresentation constitute constructive fraud, nor actual fraud." Bottrell v. Anerican Bank
(1989), 237 Mont. 1, 21, 773 P.2d 694, 706. Rat her, a "want of ordinary care" on the part

of a defendant may, under certain circunstances, give rise to liability for negligent

m srepresentation. Bottrell, 237 Mont. at 21, 773 P.2d at 706. The presence of a duty to
exercise due care is thus a requisite elenment of any claimfor negligent msrepresentation.

138 W have previously held that "[t]he existence of a duty of care [in a negligence-based
action] depends upon the foreseeability of the risk and upon a wei ghing of policy

consi derations for and against the inposition of liability." Singleton v. L.P. Anderson Supply
Co., Inc. (Mont. 1997), 943 P.2d 968, 971, 54 St. Rep. 738, 739 (quoting Maguire v.

Departnent of Institutions (1992), 254 Mont. 178, 189, 835 P.2d 755, 762).

1. Public Policy

139 Anpong those policy considerations this Court will weigh in deternining whether to
i npose a duty are
(1) the noral blame attached to a defendant's conduct; (2) the prevention of
future harm (3) the extent of the burden placed on the defendant; (4) the
consequences to the public of inposing such a duty; and (5) the availability
and cost of insurance for the risk invol ved.

Singleton, 943 P.2d at 971, 54 St. Rep. at 739 (citing Phillips v. Cty of Billings
(1988), 233
Mont. 249, 253, 758 P.2d 772, 775). See also, Estate of Strever v. Cine (1996), 278 MNont.
165, 172, 924 P.2d 666, 670.

40 As the question of whether public policy weighs in favor of the inposition of a duty
upon the State to use due care in disclosing information regarding an adoptive child's birth
parents is one of first inpression in Montana, we turn for initial guidance to case |aw from
other jurisdictions. Courts in a nunber of other states have, under certain circunstances,
recogni zed a cause of action for negligent nmisrepresentation in the adoption context and the
concom tant presence of a duty on the part of an adoption agency to use due care in

di ssem nati ng nedi cal background infornmation to potential adoptive parents. See, e.g., Mhr
v. Commonweal th (Mass. 1995), 653 N E. 2d 1104; MH and J.L.H v. Caritas Fanily

Services (Mnn. 1992), 488 N W2d 282, 288; Gbbs v. Ernst (Pa. 1994), 647 A 2d 882,

891-92; Mallette v. Children's Friend and Service (R 1. 1995), 661 A 2d 67, 71; Meracle v.
Children's Service Society of Wsconsin (Wsc. 1989), 437 N.W2d 532, 537. But see

M chael J. v. Los Angel es County, Departnent of Adoptions (1988), 201 Cal. App. 3d 859,
874-75; Richard v. Vista Del Mar Child Care Service (1980), 106 Cal. App. 3d 860, 866-68.

41 In recognizing that an adoption agency nay owe such a duty to use reasonabl e care,
these courts have invariably prenmised that duty "on the adoption agencies' voluntary

di ssenm nation of health information concerning the child to potential adopting parents."

Mal lette, 661 A 2d at 70. Courts have commonly recogni zed that a duty on the part of the
adoption agency to use due care may arise only when the agency "begin[s] vol unteering
information to potential adopting parents.” Mllette, 661 A 2d at 70. See also Caritas, 488
N. W2d at 288 (concluding that adoption agencies nmust "use due care to ensure that when

t hey undertake to disclose informati on about a child's genetic parents and nedi cal history,
they disclose that information fully and adequately . . ."); Meracle, 437 N W2d at 537
(where an adoption agency nmakes affirmative msrepresentati ons about a child' s health and
background, it has assuned a duty); G bbs, 647 A 2d at 890 (recognizing that "an adoption
agency has assuned the duty to tell the truth when it volunteers information to prospective
parents"). Thus, courts will, under certain circunstances, inmpose upon adoption agencies

a duty to use due care and to refrain from maki ng negligent msrepresentati ons where the
agenci es undertake to volunteer information to potential adoptive parents.
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42 Prior to reaching such a conclusion, virtually every court with occasion to address the
question of whether an adoption agency may, under certain circunstances, owe a conmpn

| aw duty to prospective parents has discussed conflicting issues of public policy. See, e.g.
G bbs, 647 A 2d at 891; Meracle, 437 NW2d at 537; Caritas, 488 N.W2d at 287-88;

Mal lette, 661 A 2d at 71-72; Mhr, 653 N.E 2d at 1111-12; Roe, 588 N. E. 2d at 365.

143 1In the case of G bbs, for exanple, the Suprenme Court of Pennsylvania recogni zed

conpeting interests between prospective parents and adopti on agencies, but ultimtely sided
with "a policy in favor of full and accurate disclosure of a child' s nedical history" because
such di sclosure "ensures that the adopting parents are enotionally and financially equi pped

to raise a child with special needs." G bbs, 647 A 2d at 887. Moreover, the court recogni zed
that "[f]lailure to provide adequate background information can result in the placenent of
children with famlies unable or unwilling to cope wi th physical or nental problens, |eading
to failed adoptions.” G bbs, 647 A 2d at 887.

44 In G bbs, a couple specifically inforned an adopti on agency that they w shed to adopt
a child with "no history of sexual or physical abuse or any mental or enotional problens."
G bbs, 647 A 2d at 884. The agency then informed the couple that a five-year-old boy, who
was hyperactive and had suffered from neglect, was available for adoption. G bbs, 647 A 2d
at 884-85. The adoption agency provided the adoptive parents with additional background

i nformati on regarding the child, but, despite repeated requests by the parents for infornmation
regarding the child s psychol ogi cal and enotional history, failed to disclose to themthe
child' s extensive history of sexual and physical abuse, as well as his history of violent
behavior. G bbs, 647 A 2d at 885. Imediately after the adoption was finalized, the child
"began experiencing severe enotional problens"” and di splaying extrenely violent behavior

G bbs, 647 A 2d at 885.

145 The adoptive parents subsequently brought suit against the adoption agency, alleging
counts for wongful adoption and negligent placenent. G bbs, 647 A 2d at 886. The

Pennsyl vani a Suprene Court held that "traditional conmon | aw causes of action grounded

in fraud and negligence do apply to the adoption setting," and concluded that the adoptive
parents could proceed on the conmon |aw clains of fraud, negligent msrepresentation, and
negligent failure to disclose suggested by the complaint. G bbs, 647 A 2d at 887. Wth
respect to the adoptive parents' claimfor negligent m srepresentation, the court specifically
concl uded that "the adoption agency has assuned a duty to tell the truth when it volunteers

i nformation to prospective parents, but has failed to performthat duty." G bbs, 647 A 2d at
890. The court noted that recognizing the tort of negligent misrepresentation in the adoption
context woul d place a hei ghtened burden upon adoption agencies, but concluded that public
policy considerations justified the inposition of such a burden. G bbs, 647 A 2d at 891. The
court noted the burden was tenpered by the fact that "adoption agencies need not offer
warranties or guarantees as to the information they supply.” G bbs, 647 A 2d at 891

146 The Suprene Court of Rhode Island has sinmilarly recognized that when adoption

agenci es "begin volunteering information to potential adopting parents” they assune a duty

to use due care in refraining fromnaki ng negligent m srepresentations. Mal lette, 661 A 2d
at 70-71. In Mallette, adoptive parents alleged the adoption agency negligently

m srepresented and failed to disclose information it had regarding their adopted child' s famly
and nedical history. Mllette, 661 A 2d at 68. More specifically, the parents alleged the
adoption agency informed themthat the child's "nmother suffered fromlearning disabilities
caused solely by head trauma as a young child" but failed to disclose to themthat the birth
nmot her "had been diagnosed as nildly to noderately retarded with only a 'possibility' that
such retardation resulted fromhead trauma.” Mllette, 661 A 2d at 68. The parents
additionally alleged the agency knew, but failed to disclose, that the biol ogical nother "had
been di agnosed as possessi ng nmacrocephal y, pseudoepi canthal folds, a high-arched pal ate,
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tachycardia, small clinodactyly of the fifth fingers, trenors of the hands, and poor
coordination." Mallette, 661 A 2d at 68.

47 The court concluded that when the agency "began all egedly vol unteering infornmation
concerning [the child s] and his biological nother's nedical and genetic background the
agency assuned a duty to refrain fromnmaki ng negligent m srepresentations.” Mllette, 661
A 2d at 71. In so concluding, the court reasoned that pernmtting the adoptive parents to
mai ntain a claimfor negligent msrepresentation agai nst the adoption agency would in fact
"pronote public policy" and "woul d not create any substantial additional burdens on

adoption agencies." Mallette, 661 A 2d at 71-72. The court reasoned that "in order to avoid
liability, an adoption agency needs sinply to refrain frommaking representations, or if it
does begi n making representations, it nust do so in a nonnegligent manner." Mallette, 661

A 2d at 73.

148 Turning back to the case at hand, we conclude, as has the recent mgjority of courts
addressing this issue, that recognizing a cause of action for negligent msrepresentation in
t he adoption context will, in fact, pronote public policy and ensure that "adoptive parents
assume the awesone responsibility of raising a child with their eyes w de open." Roe, 588
N. E. 2d at 365.

149 As have those courts hol di ng adopti on agenci es assune a duty to refrain from nmaking
negl i gent mnisrepresentations when they begin volunteering information to potential adoptive
parents, this Court has simlarly recognized the fundanmental principle that,

where a person undertakes to do an act or discharge a duty by which the

conduct of another may be properly regul ated and governed, he is bound to

performit in such a nmanner that those who are rightfully led to a course of

conduct or action on the faith that the act or duty will be duly and properly

performed shall not suffer loss or injury by reason of negligent failure so to

performit.

Stewart v. Standard Publishing Co. (1936), 102 Mont. 43, 50, 55 P.2d 694, 696 (quoting 45
C.J. 650). See also, Sult v. Scandrett (1947), 119 Mont. 570, 573, 178 P.2d 405, 406-07;
Yager v. Deane (1993), 258 Mont. 453, 457, 853 P.2d 1214, 1217 (quoting Stewart and
recogni zing principle, but finding no duty under the circunstances of that case).

50 In the instant case, the Jacksons argue the State, in fact, disclosed certain background
i nformati on regarding Aaron's birth parents, and in doing so, assumed a duty to use due care
and to conpletely and accurately disclose that information. The State, however, argues it
made no m sl eadi ng statenents to the Jacksons regardi ng the psychol ogi cal background of
Aaron's birth mother and putative father, and, therefore, that it assumed no such duty. The
State asserts that, although it did provide the Jacksons with a great deal of information about
Aaron's background prior to the adoption, it did not provide themw th any inaccurate or

m sl eadi ng i nformati on regardi ng the psychol ogi cal background of his birth parents.
Specifically, the State argues its enpl oyees knew of no fanilial predisposition for nenta
illness, made no attenpts to conceal information fromthe Jacksons, and did not assure them
that Aaron would be free frommental illness.

151 As the State concedes, review of the record indicates that Wallace and Petek did

i ndeed provide the Jacksons with certain information regardi ng Aaron's background. For
exanpl e, deposition testinony fromthe Jacksons indicates that Wallace and Petek i nformed
them of the possibility that Aaron's birth nother had used drugs or al cohol early in her
pregnancy, that Aaron had been renoved fromthe custody of his birth nother due to her
inability to care for him and that his birth nother had caused himto aspirate on solid food
and soda pop when he was a young infant. The Jacksons' deposition testinony further
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i ndicates that Wallace and Petek reveal ed that Aaron's birth mother cane froma nulti-
generation welfare famly and that the famly was socially inept, but that Aaron's birth
nmot her was physically healthy. W conclude that the State, when it began vol unteering such
background i nformation to the Jacksons, assuned a duty to do so with due care. Wether

the State breached that duty and negligently msrepresented information to the Jacksons is
a question of nmaterial fact precluding sumary judgnent in the State's favor

152 Wth respect to the first of several specific public policy factors inplicated in this
case, we conclude that to require anything less fromthe State than the exercise of due care
in the dissem nation of information in its possession to prospective adoptive parents woul d
be sinply unacceptable. W recognize that the inposition of such a duty indeed places a
slight burden on the State, but conclude that burden is justified in light of the conpelling
need for adoptive parents to receive all available information regarding a child who nmay soon
becone a permanent part of their famly. W conclude that "[f]ull disclosure of a child's
medi cal and familial background” is warranted "not only to enable adoptive parents to obtain
timely and appropriate medical care for the child, but also to enable themto nmake an
intelligent and inforned decision to adopt." Mhr, 653 N E 2d at 1112. Furthernore, we

note the inposition of such a duty will increase public trust in our State agencies, and "will
give potential parents nore confidence in the adoption process and in the accuracy of the
information they receive." Meracle, 437 NW2d at 537. Finally, for the reasons di scussed

later in this opinion, we reject the State's argunent that the inposition of a common | aw duty
woul d conflict with its duty to maintain confidentiality of the birth parents’ nedical records
inthis case. In light of the fact that the State undertook to disclose to the Jacksons certain
information regarding Aaron's birth parents, we conclude that public policy considerations
justify the inposition of a duty upon the State in the present case.

2. Foreseeability

153 O additional and equally vital inportance to our inquiry into the presence of a

common |law duty in the instant case is the question of foreseeability. As noted above, we
have held that the existence of a duty of care in a negligence-based acti on depends, not only
"upon a wei ghing of policy considerations for and against the inposition of liability," but

al so "upon the foreseeability of the risk" involved. Singleton v. L.P. Anderson Supply Co.
Inc. (1997), 943 P.2d 968, 971, 54 St. Rep. 738, 739 (quoting Maguire v. Departnent of
Institutions (1992), 254 Mont. 178, 189, 835 P.2d 755, 762).

54 In Busta v. Colunbus Hospital Corp. (1996), 276 Mont. 342, 370, 916 P.2d 122, 139,

we clarified "that foreseeability is an el enent of negligence, and therefore, properly
considered with the existence of duty." |In evaluating the presence of a duty of care, this
court measures foreseeability "on a scale of reasonabl eness” pursuant to which the

appropriate inquiry is into "what the reasonably prudent person would then have foreseen

as likely to happen." Schafer v. State, Dept. of Institutions (1979), 181 Mont. 102, 106, 592
P.2d 493, 495, overruled in part on other grounds by Estate of Strever v. Cine (1996), 278
Mont. 165, 178, 924 P.2d 666, 674 (quoting Mang v. Eliasson (1969), 153 Mont. 431, 436-37, 458
P.2d 777, 781). In Mang, we recogni zed that foreseeability thus "constitutes a

limtation on the otherwi se potentially infinite liability which would follow every all eged
negligent act," and concluded that "[f]oreseeability is of prine inportance in establishing the
el enment of duty." Sinply put, if a reasonably prudent person can foresee no risk of injury,
that person is not negligent. Mang, 153 Mont. at 437, 458 P.2d at 781

55 In the present case, the District Court concluded that the Jacksons failed to
denonstrate the requisite el enent of foreseeability, and thus concluded the Jacksons "fail ed
to sustain their burden of establishing . . . the existence of a duty on the part of the"
State.

More specifically, the court concluded that the Jacksons had failed to adequately
denonstrate that the State knew, or should have known, that w thhol di ng background
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medi cal information regarding Aaron's birth parents would result in a risk of injury to the
Jacksons. In so concluding, the court noted that the Jacksons' expert, Dr. Blodgett, "has
testified that he did not know what caused Aaron's condition" and that the Jacksons therefore
failed to establish that the State knew or shoul d have known that the psychol ogi ca
information allegedly withheld would result in arisk of injury to the Jacksons.

156 O her courts faced with the question of whether an adopti on agency has a comon

law duty to accurately comunicate informati on to prospective parents have simlarly

recogni zed that foreseeability is a critical elenment of duty, and that "the liability of
adoption

agencies is linted to those conditions reasonably predictable at the time of placenent.

G bbs, 647 A . 2d at 891 (citing Vista Del Mar, 106 Cal. App. 3d at 867; Roe, 588 N E. 2d at

361; Foster v. Bass (Mss. 1990), 575 So. 2d 967, 975). |In G bbs, the Pennsyl vania Suprene
Court held that, "under the traditional principles of negligence, the duty of adoption agencies
for the purposes of negligent msrepresentation will only apply where the condition of the
child was foreseeable at the tinme of placement so that the agency is blaneworthy in naking

a msrepresentation.” G bbs, 647 A 2d at 892. Mbdreover, a nunber of courts have

recogni zed that, in determ ning whether there exists a duty on the part of an adoption agency
under any given set of factual circunstances, "'the commpn |aw notion of foreseeability as
found in the concepts of duty and proxinmate cause' prevents the tort of negligent 'w ongful
adoption' from maki ng adopti on agencies guarantors of children's future health." See, e.qg.
Mohr, 653 N E. 2d at 1113 (quoting G bbs, 647 A 3d at 891).

157 Wth respect to the Jacksons' claimfor negligent m srepresentation in the present case,
we are of the simlar opinion that the State owes the Jacksons a duty of due care only if it
was reasonably foreseeable that Aaron was at a greater risk for the devel opnment of health
probl ens due to his parents' nental health. As did the District Court, we turn to Dr.

Bl odgett's deposition testinony to deternine whether the Jacksons have sustained their

burden of denonstrating that, at the time of Aaron's adoption in 1985, the State could
reasonabl y have foreseen that Aaron was at risk for devel oping the enotional and

psychol ogi cal problens he presently displays. In concluding that the Jacksons failed to
properly denonstrate foreseeability, the court noted that, by his own admi ssion, Dr. Bl odgett
did not know what caused Aaron's condition. |Indeed, in response to questioning by the
State's attorney, Dr. Blodgett concedes as follows: "Do I know what's caused Aaron's ill ness?
No | do not."

158 To establish a duty on the part of the State, however, the Jacksons need not prove with
absol ute scientific and nedical certainty the presence of a genetic |link between Aaron's
psychol ogi cal and enotional problens and those suffered by his birth nother and putative
father. Rather, as stated above, the Jacksons need only denobnstrate reasonable

foreseeability. |In other words, the Jacksons need only denonstrate that the State could
reasonably have foreseen that Aaron was at risk for later manifesting an array of

psychol ogi cal and enotional problens, not that the psychol ogical inpairnments suffered by
Aaron's birth nother and putative father have definitively caused Aaron's present difficulties.

159 Wth this standard in mind, we hold the District Court erred in concluding that
because Dr. Bl odgett concedes he does not know what has caused Aaron's illness the
Jacksons have failed to denonstrate reasonable foreseeability. Rather, a review of Dr.
Bl odgett's entire deposition testinony |eads us to the opposite conclusion. For exanple,
referring to those psychol ogi cal evaluations of Aaron's birth nother and putative father
allegedly withheld in this case, Dr. Bl odgett enphasizes the follow ng
[YIou know, the principal point that 1'd like to make in this is that | do believe
that -- given the diagnoses of the nmother and the putative father, Stevens --
particularly the putative father, Stevens -- that even by 1980, '82, '83 standards,
that there was enough known of famlial patterns that we understood that there
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were significant biological risks to people -- or significant risks to people who
were first-degree relatives to people with those di agnoses.

60 In his ensuing testinony, Dr. Blodgett engages in an at-length discussion of the

"fam lial patterns" to such disorders as schizophrenia. Having reviewed all of Dr. Blodgett's
deposition testinony, we hold the District Court erred in concluding the Jacksons failed to
establish the requisite element of foreseeability in this case. Review of Dr. Blodgett's
deposition indicates the Jacksons have sufficiently denonstrated that, in |light of the
information the State had regarding the psychol ogi cal and enotional health of Aaron's birth
not her and putative father, the State could reasonably have foreseen that Aaron would | ater
mani f est an array of psychol ogi cal and enotional problens.

61 Based on the foregoing discussion, we hold that when the State began vol unteering

i nformation regarding the health of Aaron's biological famly, it assumed a duty to do so with
due care and to refrain fromnegligently msrepresenting that information to the Jacksons.
Whet her the State in fact breached that duty presents a genuine issue of material fact
precluding summary judgnent in the State's favor with respect to the Jacksons' claimfor
negligent m srepresentation

B. Statutory duty: negligent nondisclosure and negligence

62 1In addition to a claimfor negligent msrepresentation, the Jacksons' conplaint sets
forth clainms against the State for negligent nondi scl osure and negligence based upon a | ack
of informed consent. As with the Jacksons' claimfor negligent nisrepresentation, the
presence of a legal duty is an integral elenent of their remaining clainms for negligent
nondi scl osure and negligence. See Kitchen Krafters, 242 Mont. at 162, 789 P.2d at 571
(recogni zing presence of a duty is an essential elenent of any negligence action). It is
axiomatic that applicable statutes nay create a duty in a negligence action. See, e.g.
Rookhui zen v. Blain's Mbile Home Court, Inc. (1989), 236 Mdnt. 7, 10, 767 P.2d 1331,

1333 (recognizing duty in negligence action may be established by statute or common | aw).
We thus turn to Montana's statutory framework to determ ne whether the State had an

i ndependent duty of disclosure sufficient to support the Jacksons' clains for negligence based
upon the all eged withholding of information by the State.

63 In its order granting the State's notion for summary judgnent, the District Court
concluded that the State had no statutory duty "to disclose the information which the
[Jacksons] claimwas withheld in this case" and accordingly rejected the Jacksons' "claim
that the [State was] negligent in violating a statutorily inposed duty."

64 On appeal, the Jacksons argue that the Uniform Adoption Act of Mntana, in fact,

i nposed upon the State a duty to disclose all available non-identifying information regarding
Aaron's fam lial background, sufficient to support their negligence-based clains, and that the
District Court erred in concluding otherwise. |In contrast, the State argues it had no statutory
duty to disclose to the Jacksons any nore medi cal or psychol ogi cal information regarding

Aaron's birth famly than it actually did. Mre specifically, the State concedes that it had a
limted duty of disclosure pursuant to 8§ 40-8-122(1)(c), MCA but argues it fulfilled that duty
by disclosing a variety of background information to the Jacksons. The State next argues it

was, in fact, statutorily precluded fromreleasing the psychological reports at issue in this
case.

65 As noted, the State prelimnarily acknow edges that § 40-8-122(1)(c), MCA required

that it file a report with the court stating that, anong other things, "nedical and soci al

hi stories [had] been provided to the adoptive parent.” The State contends that it conplied
with this requirement, and that it had no duty, statutory or otherw se, to provide the Jacksons
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with a nore conplete medical and social history.

66 Section 40-8-122, MCA, provides that:

(1) Upon the filing of a petition for adoption the court shall order an

i nvestigation to be made by the [State] or by a licensed chil d-pl aci ng agency

or other person nanmed by the court . . . . The report of investigation shall be
filed with the court by the investigator at the tine the petition is filed or within
30 days fromthe issuance of the order for investigation, unless the tine

therefor is extended by the court. The report of the investigation shall state:

(c) that nedical and social histories have been provided to the
adoptive parent

167 As the State correctly notes, 8 40-8-122, MCA, does not specifically identify that

i nformati on which the State nmust include in the nedical and social histories it prepares, and
does not explicitly mandate disclosure of any psychol ogi cal records regarding a child' s birth

parents. The State argues that it did disclose other background information to the Jacksons

and that it thus conplied with the disclosure requirenents of 8§ 40-8-122, MCA

168 Al though § 40-8-122(1), MCA, does not specifically describe that information which
the State nmust include in the nedical and social histories it provides to adoptive parents,
State's own policies and procedures manual provides additional detail. The Departnent of
Soci al and Rehabilitation Services Policies and Procedures Manual (Manual) & CSD SS
602-1 specifically provides that:
Preparation for adoptive placenent is a team process involving the child with
his social worker, foster parents, birth parents, adoptive parents and resource
worker. The child's social worker is the primary person in the process.

The child and his adoptive fanmily need to have all available information on the

child and his birth famly. This information shall include:

1. Background i nformation on biol ogical parents . . .;

2. Daily schedules . . .;

3. Child' s Social Study with identifying information renpved;
4. Current child' s nedical record . . .;

5. Life story book;

6. Psychol ogi cal eval uation

7. School records; and

8. Soci al Security nunber.

169 Moreover, 8§ CSD SS 601-1 of the Manual describes the State's phil osophy regarding
adoption as foll ows:
The pl acenment of children for adoption should have as its main objective the
wel | - being of the children. The needs of the child should be the primary
determ nant of the total service with full recognition of the interdependent
needs and interests of the birth parents and adoptive parents.

170 The Jacksons argue that 8 40-8-122(1)(c), MCA, construed in conjunction with the
State's own policy and procedures nanual, inposed upon the State a statutorily constructed
duty to disclose the psychological reports allegedly withheld in this case.

171 Although the State's policy and procedures manual does not specifically

require that

the State disclose psychol ogical evaluations perfornmed on an adoptee's biol ogical parents,
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it explicitly recognizes that the child and his adoptive famly need to have "all avail able
information on the child and his birth famly." This | anguage, coupled with that portion of
§ 40-8-122(1)(c), MCA which mandates that the State provide adoptive parents with

"medi cal and social histories" clearly evidences a statutory duty on the part of the State to
fully and accurately disclose all relevant information, including psychol ogical reports,
regardi ng an adoptee and his or her famly.

72 The State next argues, however, that the inposition of such a duty to disclose, on

either a common | aw or statutory basis, would conflict with its statutory duties to maintain
the confidentiality of the birth parents' nmedical records. |n support of this contention, the
State points to that version of § 41-3-205, MCA (1985), in effect at the tine of Aaron's
adoption by the Jacksons in 1985, which prohibited the State from di scl osing information
contained in child protection services files to anyone unl ess authorized by court order

173 Al though & 41-3-205, MCA, generally prohibited the State from di scl osi ng

information contained in child protective services files, it provided an exception permtting
such dissemnation if authorized by court order. Had it obtained such an order fromthe
court in this case, the State could have conplied with the confidentiality requirenments of

§ 41-3-205, MCA, while at the sane tinme conplying with its own policy of providing an
adoptive family with "all available information on the child and his birth famly" and with
its statutory mandate to provide adoptive parents with nmeani ngful "nedical and socia
histories.” Had the State sought, but failed to obtain, such a court order, the State coul d
still

have conplied with the confidentiality requirenments of 8§ 41-3-205, MCA, and its own policy
by sinply inform ng the Jacksons that Aaron woul d not have been an appropriate child for
themto adopt in light of their concerns regarding a possible history of mental illness.

974 Thus, although we recogni ze the various privacy considerations at issue in this case,

we neverthel ess conclude that 8§ 40-8-122(1)(c), MCA, construed in conjunction with the
State's own policy and procedures nanual, gives rise to a statutorily inposed duty on the part
of the State to fully and accurately disclose to the Jacksons all rel evant background
information in its possession, including any reports regardi ng the psychol ogi cal health of
Aaron's birth parents. Wether the State breached that duty is a genuine issue of nateria
fact precluding sunmary judgnent in the State's favor on the Jacksons' clains for negligent
nondi scl osure and negligence based upon a lack of informed consent.

| SSUE 2

175 Didthe District Court err in inmplicitly concluding the State sufficiently established
t he absence of any genuine issue of material fact regarding a causal connection between the
State's allegedly negligent conduct and the Jacksons' injuries?

976 In light of our conclusion that the District Court erred in holding the State had neither
a common |law nor a statutory duty to fully and accurately disclose to the Jacksons certain

i nformati on regardi ng the psychol ogi cal background of their adoptive son's birth nother and
putative father, we nust next determ ne whether the court simlarly erred in concluding that
the State established the absence of any genuine issue of material fact with respect to the

el enent of causati on.

177 As the party noving for summary judgnment in this case, the State has the initia

burden of denobnstrating "that no genuine issues of material fact exist." Bruner, 272 Mont.
at 264-65, 900 P.2d at 903. Only if the State has done so, does "the burden then shift[] to
the [Jacksons] to prove by nore than nere denial and specul ation that a genui ne issue does
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exist." Bruner, 272 Mont. at 264-65, 900 P.2d at 903.

78 In its order granting the State's notion for summary judgnment, the District Court held
that "[t]he proof advanced by [the Jacksons] is insufficient to satisfy their burden of proving
causation." The court concluded Dr. Bl odgett's proposed testinony was insufficient to neet

the Jacksons' burden of establishing that the State's conduct hel ped "produce the injury
conpl ai ned of" because it failed to adequately denonstrate that "the information allegedly
withheld by the [State] relative to the child and his heredity is causally connected to the
child' s current nedical condition." Inplicit in the court's conclusion that the Jacksons failed
to denponstrate the presence of a genuine issue of material fact with respect to the question

of causation, is its initial determination that the State satisfied its prelimnary burden of
establ i shing the absence of any such genuine issue of material fact. This portion of the
court's analysis rests upon its determnation that proof of causation in the present case wll
ultimately require the Jacksons to denonstrate that the enotional and psychol ogi ca

condition of Aaron's birth nmother and putative father caused Aaron's present condition

179 On appeal, the Jacksons argue the court incorrectly interpreted the el enent of
causation as it applies to their clainms, and erred in holding that, to withstand the State's
nmotion for summary judgnent and to ultinmately prevail in this suit, they must denonstrate,
by way of expert testinony, that the enotional and psychol ogical condition of Aaron's birth
not her and putative father caused his present condition. Rather, the Jacksons argue that to
denonstrate causation they need only establish that, but for the State's conduct in either

wi t hhol ding or misrepresenting certain information, the Jacksons woul d not have adopted
Aaron and, consequently, would have suffered no injuries.

180 Indeed, pursuant to our decision in Busta, we will no |onger consider foreseeability
as an el enent of causation. Rather
[i]n those cases which do not involve issues of intervening cause, proof of
causation is satisfied by proof that a party's conduct was a cause-in-fact of the
damage alleged. As stated in Prosser and Keaton on Torts 41, at 266 (5th ed.
1984), a party's conduct is a cause-in-fact of an event if "the event woul d not
have occurred but for that conduct; conversely, the defendant's conduct is not
a cause of the event, if the event would have occurred without it."

Busta, 276 Mont. at 371, 916 P.2d at 139.

81 Furthernore, in Busta, we clarified that the appropriate causation instruction is as
follows: "The defendant's conduct is a cause of injury if it helped produce it and if the injury
woul d not have occurred without it." Busta, 276 Mont. at 371, 916 P.2d at 139

82 Thus, to denobnstrate causation in the present case, the Jacksons will have to first
establish that the State's conduct, in wi thholding or msrepresenting information regarding
Aaron's background, hel ped produce their injuries. The Jacksons will also have to

denonstrate that they would have suffered no injuries but for the fact that the State wthheld
or msrepresented that background information

183 To specifically define causation in the present case, we nust first identify the injury
and resulting damages for which the Jacksons seek to recover by way of the present suit.
Quite sinply put, the general allegation upon which the Jacksons rest their suit is that the
State withheld and nisrepresented naterial facts regarding Aaron's biological fam |y and,

t hereby, caused the Jacksons to adopt a child they would not have otherw se adopted. The
Jacksons all ege they have been injured because they adopted a child they would not have
chosen to adopt had they been fully and accurately informed, and assert they have suffered
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enotional and financial danages as a result of the adoption

184 We thus conclude the District Court erred in defining the injury clained by the

Jacksons in this case solely as "the enotional distress and financial responsibility for nedica
attention." More accurately, the injury clainmed by the Jacksons is the fact that they adopted
a child they woul d have chosen not to adopt had they been aware of his fam |y background.

The ensuing enotional distress and financial responsibilities they allege are danages

resulting fromthis injury. Thus, although the State argues that "[w] hether or not the
Jacksons woul d have adopted Aaron is not the issue,” we conclude precisely the opposite.

185 We note that portion of the District Court's order in which it reasoned that, "if it were
deternmned that [the State] failed to disclose or msrepresented certain facts about Aaron's
background or concerning his natural nother's and father's nental conditions, and Aaron

| at er devel oped a nedi cal disorder such as diabetes, the [State's] failure to disclose would
certainly bear no relationship to his diabetes and the plaintiffs' resulting expenses incurred

in connection with the treatnment of such condition." W agree that for the State to face
liability in such a situation would be to, in effect, hold it responsible for its obvious
inability

to offer prospective parents a guarantee regarding any particular child s future health. W
concl ude, however, that the elenent of foreseeability, properly considered by this Court in
determ ni ng whether or not there exists a duty in any given case, sufficiently restricts the
State's potential liability in such situations. Here, we have concluded that, in Iight of the
information the State had regarding the psychol ogi cal and enotional health of Aaron's birth
nmot her and putative father, the State coul d reasonably have foreseen that Aaron would

mani fest his present array of psychol ogical and enoti onal problens.

186 I ndeed, a nunber of other courts have recognized that, in the adoption context, the tort
of negligent msrepresentation "is sufficiently restricted by the comon | aw notion of
foreseeability as found in the concepts of duty and proxi mate cause to prevent it from
becom ng in any way a guarantee or warranty of a child's future health.” G bbs, 647 A 2d

at 891. See also, Mdhr, 653 N E. 2d at 1113.

187 Furthernore, although those "wongful adoption" cases fromother jurisdictions

provide little guidance on the question of causation, we note that the adoptive parents in
several cases testified that they would not have adopted the child had they received full and
accurate information regarding the child's famlial background. See, e.g., Mhr, 653 N E. 2d
at 1109; Burr, 491 N E. 2d at 1105 (plaintiffs stated they would not have adopted the child
had it not been for the defendants' fraudul ent conduct); Mallette, 661 A 2d at 71

188 Based on the foregoing, we conclude that, to denonstrate a causal connection between

the State's conduct and their alleged injury, the Jacksons will ultimately need to denobnstrate
that the State's conduct in allegedly wthholding or nisrepresenting information regarding
Aaron's background led to their decision to adopt Aaron and thereby hel ped produce the

injury in this case. Mor eover, we hold the Jacksons will have to denonstrate that, but for
the fact that the State withheld and m srepresented certain background i nfornmation, they

woul d not have adopted Aaron, would not have been injured, and would not have incurred

the damages they now cl aim

189 We hold the District Court, relying on an incorrect standard for causation, erred in

pl aci ng the burden upon the Jacksons to denpbnstrate the presence of a genui ne issue of

mat erial fact and in concluding they failed to sustain that burden. Instead, we hold the State
has failed to denonstrate the absence of a genuine issue of naterial fact with respect to the
guestion of whether the Jacksons woul d have adopted Aaron had it not been for the State's
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conduct in allegedly wthhol ding or msrepresenting information regardi ng Aaron's
background.

190 For the reasons stated above, we reverse the District Court's order granting the State's
nmotion for summary judgnent, and remand for further proceedings consistent with this
opi ni on.

/S JIM REGNI ER

We Concur:

sl J. A TURNAGE

/'S KARLA M GRAY

/'Sl W WLLI AM LEAPHART
/'Sl WLLIAM E. HUNT, SR
/'Sl JAMES C. NELSON

Justice Terry N. Trieweiler specially concurring.

91 | concur with the result of the majority opinion; however, | would not engage in the
majority's analysis of whether the State of Montana, through its Departnment of Famly
Services, had a conmmon |aw duty to disclose information in its possession regarding the
adopted child's famly history of mental illness or enotional disturbance.

192 Analysis of a common | aw duty, based on our prior cases, involves a cunbersone and

subj ective analysis of foreseeability and public policy. That analysis is unnecessary in this
case because it has already been done by the Legislature and the Departnment of Social and
Rehabilitation Services. Furthernore, the discussion related to that analysis infers that every
case all egi ng nondi scl osure of information will have to be individually evaluated for a causa
rel ati onship between the information w thheld and the adopted child's condition. None of

that analysis is necessary because of the statutory and regul atory obligation inposed on the
Departnment which is noted in the majority opinion.

193 | concur with the majority that the State had a duty, pursuant to 40- 8- 122, MCA

to disclose nedical information and the social history of the adopted child and his biologica
parents. By administrative rule, that information was to include background information on
the biological parents. Certainly, in light of the adoptive parents' inquiries in this case,
t he

nmost significant background i nformation regardi ng these biological parents related to their
ment al heal t h.

194 W& have previously held that statutes establish a duty. 1t is assumed that when the
Legi sl ature enacts statutes, or administrative agencies enact rules, they do so because of the

foreseeability of harmif the statute or rule is not followed. It is also assurmed that

stat utes,

and administrative rules which are consistent with those statutes, are a reflection of public
policy in Montana. Therefore, | conclude that once having determ ned that the State of

Mont ana had a statutory duty to disclose the nedical and psychol ogical history of the
adopted child' s biological parents, it was unnecessary to di scuss whether, under the
circunstances in this case, there was also a common |law duty. | furthernore concl ude that
by reaching the issue of whether there was a comon |aw duty, the najority has encouraged
the trial courts and bar to anal yze each simlar claimon a case-by-case basis to determ ne
whet her, in fact, a causal connection can be established between the informati on w thheld
and the condition of the adopted child when, in fact, such an analysis is irrelevant to the
establi shnment of the duty inposed by statute in Mntana.

195 For these reasons, while | concur with the majority's conclusion that the State of
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Mont ana had a duty to disclose all relevant nedi cal and psychol ogi cal information about the
adopted child and his biological parents, | conclude that it is unnecessary to di scuss whet her
that duty arises by common law. Therefore, | specially concur with the mgjority opinion.

/'SI TERRY N. TRI EVEI LER
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